RECEIVED

Jun 19 2026

SC Court of Appeals

**IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
COURT OF APPEALS**

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2025-002179

**CRISTA LINARES GRAINGER, as
Personal Representative of the Estate of
Sebastian Linares Grainger,**

Appellant,

v.

**UBER TECHNOLOGIES, INC., RAISER
LLC, and JESSE MCNEAL**

Defendants,

**of which UBER TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
and RASIER, LLC are**

Respondents.

Appeal from Charleston County Court of Common Pleas, Honorable Thomas. J. Rode, Presiding
Civil Action Case No.: 2020-CP-10-01553

FINAL APPELLANT'S BRIEF

ROSEN HAGOOD, LLC
Oana D. Johnson, Attorney at Law
South Carolina Bar No.: 100373
40 Calhoun Street, Suite 450
Charleston, SC 29401

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the Circuit Court erroneously find that a reasonable person would not foresee the circumstances surrounding Appellant's death as a natural probable consequence of Uber's failure to investigate rider feedback of driver marijuana use?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Circuit Court's grant of summary judgment to the Defendants Uber Technologies, Inc. and Raiser, LLC ("Uber") on Plaintiff's claim for wrongful death.

Sebastian Grainger tragically died on April 4, 2017, after consuming heroin provided by Jesse McNeal ("McNeal"), a driver Sebastian met while using the Uber app for a ride. Plaintiff, Crista Linares Grainger, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Sebastian Linares Grainger, brought this suit against Uber and McNeal, alleging wrongful death, negligent hiring and supervision. (ROA. 013-020).

Before discovery was completed, on October 29, 2024, Uber filed a motion for summary judgment on the grounds that Plaintiff cannot establish liability against Uber under any individual theory of negligence. (ROA. 057-058). During discovery, it was revealed that Uber had received reports on several occasions from other riders that McNeal's car smelled like marijuana, but Uber failed to investigate (ROA. 401). A hearing on Defendant's Motion was held August 26, 2025. The Court entered its Order granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgement on September 22, 2025, erroneously finding that the connection between Uber's failure to investigate

reports of marijuana use and Sebastian's death is too attenuated and thus, as a matter of law, Uber's actions are not the proximate cause of Sebastian's death. (ROA. 008).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is a tragic story of a customer that had the misfortune of meeting an Uber driver who was not only addicted to drugs, but who also took advantage of his employment with Uber to sell drugs to Uber's customers.

On March 21, 2017, Sebastian Grainger (Decedent), a Citadel Graduate and member of the National Guard who had just applied for officer candidate school (ROA. 115), requested a ride through his Uber App. Jesse McNeal (McNeal) was the Uber driver that picked up Sebastian for the ride he requested. During the ride, McNeal offered Sebastian cocaine and they exchanged phone numbers. McNeal provided Sebastian with more cocaine on another occasion and on April 4, McNeal supplied the Decedent with heroin. Unfortunately, the heroin was laced with fentanyl, which caused Sebastian's death.

In his sentencing statement, McNeal admitted that he was addicted to drugs. In an attempt to minimize his sentence, McNeal submitted to the Court that "at 31, his only drug conviction was possession of marijuana" (ROA. 225). Despite this, Uber takes the position that they had no responsibility to make sure its drivers do not use drugs or have drug convictions.

Uber prides itself in offering safe rides. It even advertises that “it will set the strictest safety standards possible and then work hard to improve them every day” and that it offers the “safest rides on the road.” Uber’s website states that **“Safety is fundamental to Uber. Our technology enables us to focus on rider safety before, during, and after every trip to help make millions of rides safer every day. Safety is our number one priority.”** (ROA. 257). Uber’s claims that the safety of its passengers is a priority is not just misleading to the public it is preposterous. Uber delegates the vetting of its drivers to a low-cost background check company, Chekr. Chekr’s system fails to discover information that would disqualify drivers from eligibility to provide ride services on platforms such as Uber; in some cases, Chekr fails to produce information which would disqualify someone from having a drivers’ license. Chekr is not used by most companies in the United States. (ROA. 258). Despite its purported safety measures, Uber ignored warnings about Chekr outsourcing the court reviews to third parties, even when these third parties warned Chekr that the reviews were incomplete and inaccurate. (ROA. 259). In keeping with its pattern of ignoring information relevant to the safety of its customers, Uber ignored the fact that even Chekr found information rendering Mr. McNeal a **Habitual Offender.** (ROA. 292-293).

Not only did Uber fail to vet its drivers properly, but it failed to supervise its drivers, and it failed to investigate reports of drug use (ROA. 240-241, 254, 268,

271, 278-279, 285-288, 362, 401, 414), which is in direct violation of the South Carolina Transportation Network Companies Act (TNC).

Uber's 30(b)(6) representative, Ben Carroll testified that there was "one complaint where weed was specifically called out" in McNeal's file (ROA. 401). This was the first time Uber disclosed such a fact, despite specific requests for production of McNeal's driver ratings. Upon learning of such complaint, Plaintiff demanded copies of all McNeal's ratings. On July 22, 2025, Uber finally produced McNeal's ratings, which, not surprisingly revealed more than one marijuana use complaint. The records revealed that Uber had ample knowledge of McNeal's drug use while using the Uber app (ROA. 404, 406-408). In an interval of five months, Uber received nine complaints about McNeal's car smelling like smoke, some specifically mentioning marijuana smoke, and some making it clear they were not referring to cigarette smoke:

1. On 10/18/15 an Uber Rider commented the following: "The car was smoky. my wife had to use her inhaler after getting out."
2. On 10/18/15 another Uber Rider commented the following: "His car smelled like weed."
3. On 8/8/15 car an Uber Rider commented the following: "The car smelled of smoke. Don't ride in it if you're dressed for a nice dinner."
4. On 6/14/15 an Uber Rider commented the following: "This was a smoky car."
5. On 6/5/15 an Uber Rider commented the following: "The car reeked of smoke. Gotta change that ASAP."
6. On 5/29/15 an Uber Rider commented the following: "Car had a smoke smell."
7. On 5/29/15 another Uber Rider commented the following: "Car had a little bit of a smoke smell."

8. On 5/23/15 an Uber Rider commented the following: "Car smelled of cigarettes and smoke."
9. On 5/9/15 an Uber Rider commented the following: "Car smelled of smoke and not cigarette."

Mr. Carroll testified that if Uber receives feedback that someone is driving under the influence, in violation of South Carolina law, Uber is **obligated** to remove that driver's access to the app **immediately**.

Ben Carroll 30(b)(6) Uber Technologies (ROA. 389)

- 12 Q. If -- so customer support makes the
- 13 determination of whether a driver's access to the
- 14 app should be revoked or not based on complaints?
- 15 MR. JONES: Object to the form.
- 16 A. I wouldn't say based on complaints, but
- 17 if we receive feedback, for example, that
- 18 someone's driving under the influence, **that's in**
- 19 **violation of South Carolina law around who can**
- 20 **access our platform, and we would have to remove**
- 21 **that person's access to the platform immediately.**

However, despite reports of marijuana use in his vehicle, Uber failed to investigate the reports, and it allowed a driver who it knew was violating South Carolina law to continue driving for two more years.

Uber's representative, Ben Carroll testified (ROA. 401):

- 7 Q. So Uber -- you -- is it your testimony
- 8 today that Uber does not know whether it
- 9 investigated the incident of Mr. McNeal's car
- 10 smelling like marijuana?
- 11 MR. JONES: Object to the form.

12 A. I haven't seen any kind of
13 communications related to that. I've only seen
14 the feedback that the rider left for Mr. McNeal
15 himself saying that the car smelled like weed.

(ROA. 401)

12 Q. Okay. Would being under the influence
13 of marijuana disqualify Mr. McNeal from using the
14 app?

15 MR. JONES: Object to the form.

16 A. Operating a vehicle under the influence
17 of marijuana would disqualify anyone in
18 South Carolina from using the app.

Clearly, had Uber followed its own procedures and complied with the South Carolina law, Sebastian would never have connected with McNeal through the Uber app. This is supported by the un rebutted expert opinion contained in the supplemental report, where Plaintiff's expert, Joe Rubino, opined that Mr. McNeal should have been off the road two years before he met Grainger.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

Because this is an appeal from the grant of summary judgment, it is governed by Rule 56(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. *In re Estate of Hover*, 407 S.C. 194, 202, 754 S.E.2d 875, 879 (2014). "An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56, SCRCF." *Id. citing Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 379, 534 S.E.2d 688, 692 (2000). Summary judgment is only proper when there

is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Pittman v. Grand Strand Entm't, Inc.*, 363 S.C. 531, 611 S.E.2d 922 (2005). In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Medical Univ. of South Carolina v. Arnaud*, 360 S.C. 615, 602 S.E.2d 747 (2004); *BPS, Inc. v. Worthy*, 362 S.C. 319, 608 S.E.2d 155 (Ct. App.2005). On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Willis v. Wu*, 362 S.C. 146, 607 S.E.2d 63 (2004); *Schmidt v. Courtney*, 357 S.C. 310, 592 S.E.2d 326 (Ct.App.2003) (stating that all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party). Because it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked to ensure that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues. *Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc.*, 365 S.C. 204, 219–20, 616 S.E.2d 722, 729–30 (Ct. App. 2005) *citing* *Helena Chem. Co. v. Allianz Underwriters Ins. Co.*, 357 S.C. 631, 594 S.E.2d 455 (2004) and *Hawkins v. City of Greenville*, 358 S.C. 280, 594 S.E.2d 557 (Ct. App.2004).

- I. The lower court erroneously concluded that Uber's failure to investigate reports of drug use is not the proximate cause of Appellant's decedent.**

The question of proximate cause ordinarily is one of fact for the jury, and it may be resolved either by direct or circumstantial evidence. *Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Ctr., Inc.*, 371 S.C. 123, 147, 638 S.E.2d 650, 662 (2006)

In South Carolina, proximate cause requires proof of two distinct elements: causation in fact and legal cause, with foreseeability serving as the touchstone of the legal cause analysis. “Proximate cause requires proof of both causation in fact and legal cause.” *Bishop v. S.C. Dep't of Mental Health*, 331 S.C. 79, 88, 502 S.E.2d 78, 83 (1998) (citing *Oliver v. S.C. Dep't of Highways and Pub. Transp.*, 309 S.C. 313, 316, 422 S.E.2d 128, 130 (1992)); *Rush v. Blanchard*, 310 S.C. 375, 379, 426 S.E.2d 802, 804 (1993); *Thomas Sand Co. v. Colonial Pipeline Co.*, 349 S.C. 402, 408, 563 S.E.2d 109, 112 (Ct.App.2002). Causation in fact is proved by establishing the plaintiff's injury would not have occurred “but for” the defendant's action. *Bishop*, 331 S.C. at 88, 502 S.E.2d at 83 (citing *Oliver*, 309 S.C. at 316, 422 S.E.2d at 130; *Koester v. Carolina Rental Ctr., Inc.*, 313 S.C. 490, 493, 443 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1994)); *Rush*, 310 S.C. at 379, 426 S.E.2d at 804; *Thomas Sand Co.*, 349 S.C. at 408–409, 563 S.E.2d at 112. “Legal cause is proved by establishing foreseeability.” *Bishop*, 331 S.C. at 88, 502 S.E.2d at 83 (citing *279 *Koester*, 313 S.C. at 493, 443 S.E.2d at 394); *Oliver*, 309 S.C. at 316, 422 S.E.2d at 131; *Small v. Pioneer Mach., Inc.*, 329 S.C. 448, 463, 494 S.E.2d 835, 842 (Ct.App.1997).

“[L]egal cause is ordinarily a question of fact for the jury.” *Oliver*, 309 S.C. at 317, 422 S.E.2d at 131; *Hughes*, 269 S.C. at 399, 237 S.E.2d at 757 (stating it is generally for the jury to say whether defendant's action was a concurring, proximate cause of the plaintiff's injuries); *Thomas Sand Co.*, 349 S.C. at 409, 563 S.E.2d at 113; *Small*, 329 S.C. at 464, 494 S.E.2d at 843 (“Ordinarily, the question of proximate cause is one of fact for the jury and the trial judge's sole function regarding the issue is to inquire whether particular conclusions are the only reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the evidence.”). “In all actions tried upon the facts without a jury or with an advisory jury, the court shall find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon.” Rule 52(a), SCRPC. “Once referred, the master or special referee shall exercise all power and authority which a circuit judge sitting without a jury would have in a similar matter.” Rule 53(c), SCRPC. “Only when the evidence is susceptible to only one inference does it become a matter of law for the court.” *Oliver*, 309 S.C. at 317, 422 S.E.2d at 131; *Thomas Sand Co.*, 349 S.C. at 409, 563 S.E.2d at 113.

“The touchstone of proximate cause in South Carolina is foreseeability.” *Koester*, 313 S.C. at 493, 443 S.E.2d at 394 (citing *Young v. Tide Craft*, 270 S.C. 453, 462, 242 S.E.2d 671, 675 (1978)); *Small*, 329 S.C. at 463, 494 S.E.2d at 842. “Foreseeability is determined by looking to the natural and probable consequences

of the act complained of.” *Id.*; *Bishop*, 331 S.C. at 89, 502 S.E.2d at 83; *Oliver*, 309 S.C. at 316, 422 S.E.2d at 131; *Small*, 329 S.C. at 463, 494 S.E.2d at 842.

“The defendant may be held liable for anything which appears to have been a natural and probable consequence of his [actions].” *Bramlette v. Charter–Medical–Columbia*, 302 S.C. 68, 72, 393 S.E.2d 914, 916 (1990); *Greenville Mem’l Auditorium v. Martin*, 301 S.C. 242, 245, 391 S.E.2d 546, 548 (1990). “A plaintiff therefore proves legal cause by establishing the injury in question occurred as a natural and probable consequence of the defendant's act.” *Small*, 329 S.C. at 463, 494 S.E.2d at 843.

Here, there is no dispute that under the Transportation Network Companies Act (“TNC”), Uber shall not permit access to the app to a driver who “is under the influence of drugs or alcohol. Nothing in this section may be construed to require drug testing by a TNC of a TNC driver.” S.C. Code Ann. § 58-23-1650(F)(4)

Uber admits that it had a duty to remove McNeal’s access to the app once it received information of his drug use while using the app. Uber admits that it has no record of investigating the reports it received about McNeal. Uber cannot dispute that two years after it received reports of conduct that would **immediately** disqualify its driver from using the app, McNeal, with the aid of the Uber app, met Sebastian, provided drugs for Sebastian during the ride and further maintained contact with

Sebastian after the ride, for the purpose of selling drugs, which ultimately led to the catastrophic loss of Sebastian's life.

Whether McNeal sold the drugs while using the Uber app or not is not relevant. It was Uber that facilitated the connection between Sebastian and McNeal and but for Uber's failure to investigate the reports of drug use by McNeal, Sebastian would not have been in contact with McNeal. But for Uber violating its own procedures and South Carolina law, McNeal would not have been able to use the app; thus, that connection, which was facilitated by Uber could have not occurred.

Uber's attempt to use the self-serving testimony of its representative for the proposition that it has no obligation to protect the public, does nothing but create a question of fact as to whether Uber breached its duty of care and whether it failed to follow its own guidelines and comply with the applicable law.

Furthermore, it is not necessary for plaintiff to demonstrate that defendant should have foreseen the particular event which occurred, but, rather, merely that defendant should have foreseen that its negligence would probably cause injury to someone. *Parks v. Characters Night Club*, 345 S.C. 484, 548 S.E.2d 605 (Ct. App. 2001)

The lower court here erroneously held that:

“the causal chain is too attenuated and speculative to present a genuine issue of fact as to Uber's alleged supervision or retention of Defendant McNeal. Plaintiff alleges Uber failed to investigate rider feedback reporting smoke (potentially marijuana smoke) in Defendant McNeal's

vehicle in 2015. However, there is no evidence in the record to support a reasonable inference that such rider feedback makes it reasonably foreseeable to Uber that two years later, Defendant McNeal would have met a passenger, provided his personal phone number, and – undisputedly on his personal time – provided heroin, fentanyl, and painkillers to the Decedent.”

Like in *Parks*, Uber did not have to anticipate the sale of drugs and Sebastian’s death two years after it learned of McNeal’s use of marijuana while driving for Uber, but it merely had to anticipate that allowing McNeal to continue to provide rides while using drugs would probably cause injury to someone.

CONCLUSION

It is undisputed that Sebastian met McNeal through Uber because Uber failed to terminate McNeal’s access to the app after reports of his drug use in his vehicle. It is undisputed that the purpose of the Uber app is to bring rider and driver together (ROA. 250, 371). Therefore, it is undisputed that but for Uber’s failure to follow South Carolina law and its own policies and procedures, McNeal would not have been able to sell the drugs to Sebastian that caused his death. Accordingly, this court should reverse the grant of summary judgment and allow a jury to decide the issues of foreseeability and proximate cause.