RECEIVED

Jul 02 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Thomas J. Rode, Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action Case No.: 2020-CP-10-01553
Appellate Case No.: 2025-002179

CRISTA LINARES GRAINGER, as
Personal Representative of the Estate
of Sebastian Linares Grainger,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

UBER TECHNOLOGIES, INC., and
RASIER, LLC,

Defendants/Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Michael R. Huston, Esq.
Admitted *Pro Hac Vice*
PERKINS COIE LLP
2525 East Camelback Road, Ste. 500
Phoenix, AZ 85016
Telephone: 202-434-1630
MHuston@perkinscoie.com

Robert E. Sumner IV, Esq.

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

ARGUMENT

THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON PLAINTIFF'S NEGLIGENCE CLAIM

The circuit court properly granted summary judgment because Plaintiff cannot identify any evidence that McNeal's known conduct—a handful of rider reviews about the smell of smoke in his car—made it foreseeable that McNeal would independently sell fatal narcotics to a former rider more than two years later while disconnected from the Uber platform.

A. To establish proximate cause on negligent retention or supervision claims, a plaintiff must show that the employer knew of past employee misconduct making the ultimate complained-of injury “foreseeable.” *Doe v. ATC, Inc.*, 367 S.C. 199, 206, 624 S.E.2d 447, 450 (Ct. App. 2005); see *Kase v. Ebert*, 392 S.C. 57, 63-64, 707 S.E.2d 456, 459-460 (Ct. App. 2011). The plaintiff must “demonstrate some propensity, proclivity, or course of conduct sufficient to put the employer on notice of the possible danger to third parties.” *ATC*, 367 S.C. at 206, 624 S.E.2d at 451. But a plaintiff cannot rest on the possibility of *any* danger in the abstract. Rather, “the prior misconduct” must have “a sufficient nexus to the ultimate harm” allegedly suffered by the plaintiff. *Id.* at 207, 624 S.E.2d at 451. The analysis thus turns on “the number and nature of prior acts of wrongdoing by the employee, and the nexus or similarity between the prior acts and the ultimate harm caused.” *Id.* at 206, 624 S.E.2d at 451.

Where a plaintiff fails to identify past misconduct with “a sufficient nexus to the ultimate harm” to him or her that gives rise to the negligence claim, the question of foreseeability is “properly resolved as a matter of law” in the defendant's favor.

ATC, 367 S.C. at 206-207, 624 S.E.2d at 450-451. “Although foreseeability is usually an issue of fact, the court should dispose of the matter on a dispositive motion when no reasonable factfinder could find the risk foreseeable.” *Kase*, 392 S.C. at 63, 707 S.E.2d at 459 (citation omitted) (affirming summary judgment).

The record here contains no evidence from which a reasonable factfinder could infer that McNeal’s past conduct known to Uber made Plaintiff’s harm—Mr. Grainger’s fatal overdose—foreseeable. Plaintiff’s claim hinges on the assertion that Uber should have foreseen, based on a handful of rider reports about the smell of McNeal’s car, that McNeal would cause Mr. Grainger’s overdose more than two years later, while neither of them was even using the Uber App. As the decision below held, that “causal chain is too attenuated and speculative to present a genuine issue of material fact.” (ROA 007.)

Plaintiff fails to show proximate cause for two independent reasons. First, the record is devoid of any evidence from which a factfinder could infer that “rider feedback makes it reasonably foreseeable to Uber that two years later, Defendant McNeal would have met a passenger, provided his personal phone number, and—undisputedly on his personal time—provided heroin, fentanyl, and painkillers to [Mr. Grainger].” (ROA 007.) Numerous riders rated McNeal highly, including five-star reviews with positive feedback like “clean and nice.” (ROA 404.) While some riders referenced the smell of “smoke” generally in McNeal’s car (ROA 404-408)—and a single rider noted that the car “smelled like weed” (ROA 404)—the undisputed record shows that such smells commonly derive from other riders, not the driver (ROA 391, p. 103, line

21-p. 104, line 5). Most important, *none* of McNeal’s rider reviews reported that he was smoking while driving, driving under the influence, or exhibiting behavior suggesting impairment of any kind. (See ROA 402-410.) Without evidence of actual wrongdoing (as opposed to an odor), Plaintiff cannot show the “propensity, proclivity, or course of conduct” necessary to sustain a negligence claim. *ATC*, 367 S.C. at 206, 624 S.E.2d at 451; *see Kase*, 392 S.C. at 64, 707 S.E.2d at 459-460.

Second, the record does not establish the required “nexus” between “the prior acts and the ultimate harm caused.” *ATC*, 367 S.C. at 206, 624 S.E.2d at 450; *see id.* at 207, 624 S.E.2d at 451. Plaintiff grounds her claim (Br. 4, 10-12) on the allegation that McNeal drove under the influence while using the Uber App in 2015. To be clear, there is no evidentiary basis for that contention. But even if there were, driving under the influence would still be “a far cry from” *completing a drug transaction* two years later, on McNeal’s personal time, at Mr. Grainger’s private residence, while they were using their personal phones. *ATC*, 367 S.C. at 207-208, 624 S.E.2d at 451. Plaintiff’s claim falls far short even of the “factual similarities” that are insufficient to show foreseeability, *see Kase*, 392 S.C. at 62-63, 707 S.E.2d at 459, much less the nexus necessary for proximate causation, *see ATC*, 367 S.C. at 207-208, 624 S.E.2d at 451.

Courts consistently dispose of negligent retention and supervision claims as a matter of law where, as here, the employee’s alleged prior conduct bears no meaningful resemblance to the injury complained of in the current lawsuit. In *Kase*, for example, the Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment because an employee’s prior assault conviction, serious traffic violations, disciplinary reprimands for hostility,

and “erratic behavior” were insufficient to make it foreseeable to the defendant that the employee would perpetrate a roadside assault. 392 S.C. at 59-60, 63-64, 707 S.E.2d at 457, 459. Similarly in *ATC*, the Court of Appeals affirmed a directed verdict for the defendant because the employee’s prior inappropriate sexual advance lacked “a sufficient nexus” to the sexual assault underlying the plaintiff’s claim. 367 S.C. at 203, 207-208, 624 S.E.2d at 449, 451. And in *Hoskins v. King*, 676 F. Supp. 2d 441 (D.S.C. 2009), the court granted summary judgment because the employee’s prior traffic infractions and car accident “d[id] not rise to a level” that could show “a sufficient nexus” with the traffic accident that injured the plaintiff. *Id.* at 447.²

Just as assault convictions and erratic behavior cannot bridge the gap to a roadside attack, and prior traffic infractions and accidents cannot bridge the gap to an accident involving plaintiff, so too reports of a car that smelled like smoke cannot bridge the gap to an illegal and off-app sale of heroin, fentanyl, and painkillers two years later. The circuit court correctly recognized that straightforward point. (ROA 007-008.)

² See also, e.g., *Lee v. Dorcey*, No. 21-cv-4137, 2023 WL 3020208, at *4 (D.S.C. Jan. 26, 2023), *report and recommendation adopted*, 2023 WL 4013498 (D.S.C. Jun. 15, 2023) (granting summary judgment because a “video of [employee] ... engaging in consensual oral sex” and knowledge that the employee committed theft would not adequately suggest a “propensity to commit sexual assault”); *Interim Personnel of Cent. Va., Inc. v. Messer*, 263 Va. 435, 442, 559 S.E.2d 704, 708 (2002) (“that [employee] had been convicted twice of DUI, had failed to pay fines or attend counseling, and had been declared an habitual offender, would not place a reasonable employer on notice or make it foreseeable that [he] would steal a truck, operate the stolen vehicle during non-business hours for his own frolic, and cause an accident”).

B. As noted above (at 8-9), Plaintiff has abandoned her claims of vicarious liability, negligent hiring, and negligent screening by failing to raise any substantive argument on those claims. Plaintiff presses (Br. 8-12) only her negligent retention and supervision claim—and only on the theory that Mr. Grainger’s death was “foreseeable” because of customer reviews mentioning smoke odor in McNeal’s car years prior. Yet Plaintiff fails to identify any authorities or record evidence to disturb the circuit court’s summary disposition of that (or any other) claim.

Plaintiff contends (Br. 10)—without citing any evidence—that Uber “admits ... it had a duty to remove McNeal’s access to the app once it received information of his drug use while using the app”; that Uber “cannot dispute ... it received reports of conduct that would immediately disqualify its driver from using the app”; and that McNeal “provided drugs for [Mr. Grainger] during” the only ride he ever provided Mr. Grainger via the Uber App. Those assertions are false.

There is no evidence that Uber “received information” that McNeal used drugs “while using the [Uber] app.” Pl.’s Opening Br. 10. The rider reviews that Plaintiff relies on reported that McNeal’s car smelled like smoke—not that he used, possessed, or sold drugs. The testimony Plaintiff cites elsewhere in her brief (at 4-5) establishes only that, as a general matter, a driver would be disqualified upon proof of driving under the influence—proof that does not exist here. Plaintiff’s argument equating years-old reports of smoky *odors* with information of drug *use* is a mischaracterization of the record, not a basis for reversal. And Plaintiff’s claim that McNeal provided Mr. Grainger drugs “during” a ride arranged through the Uber app is equally baseless:

Plaintiff cites nothing in the record to support it and instead relies on “mere allegations,” which are insufficient to overcome summary judgment. *Hoard*, 387 S.C. at 549, 694 S.E.2d at 6.

Plaintiff wrongly suggests (Br. 3) that Checkr found that McNeal was a “Habitual Offender” and that Uber ignored that finding. That assertion has nothing to do with McNeal’s qualifications to drive, or with proximate cause on Plaintiff’s negligence claims. McNeal’s background check revealed a 2006 charge for unlawful possession of a pistol and a 2008 probation violation. Neither of those was disqualifying under the TNC Act, *see* S.C. Code Ann. § 58-23-1650(F), nor did they have any nexus to the off-platform sale of heroin, fentanyl, and painkillers that caused Mr. Grainger’s death in 2017, *see* pp. 12-13, *supra*. The “number and nature” of those prior acts, *ATC*, 367 S.C. at 206, 624 S.E.2d at 451, would not put a reasonable person on notice that McNeal would sell fatal narcotics to a former rider while not connected to Uber years later.

Plaintiff focuses most of her argument (Br. 10-12) on a theory of *but for* causation: she contends that, “but for Uber’s failure to investigate the reports of drug use by McNeal, [Mr. Grainger] would not have been in contact with McNeal.” But that is beside the point. To establish proximate cause, a plaintiff must establish “*both*” “but for” causation *and* “foreseeability.” *Bishop v. South Carolina Dep’t of Mental Health*, 331 S.C. 79, 88-89, 502 S.E.2d 78, 83 (1998) (emphasis added). Even if Plaintiff could prove but-for causation, her claim would still fail because she cannot establish that Mr. Grainger’s overdose was a “foreseeab[le]” consequence of Uber’s

alleged failure to remove McNeal from the Uber platform, *id.*, as the circuit court correctly held (ROA 007-008). Regardless, Plaintiff’s but-for theory proves too much: under Plaintiff’s logic, any TNC would be the proximate cause of any harm inflicted by any driver who ever received a negative rider review, no matter how attenuated the connection—factually or temporally—between the review and the harm. South Carolina does not recognize such limitless liability. *See Bishop*, 331 S.C. at 90-91, 502 S.E.2d at 84 (affirming summary judgment where an intervening cause rendered initial negligence too remote to constitute proximate cause).

For similar reasons, Plaintiff errs in repeating (Br. 6) her retained expert’s opinion that McNeal “should have been off the road two years before he met [Mr.] Grainger.” Once again, Plaintiff targets *but for* causation, not foreseeability. *See Bishop*, 331 S.C. at 88-89, 502 S.E.2d at 83. An expert’s opinion that McNeal’s Uber account should have been deactivated does nothing to close the gap between a smattering of smoke complaints and an off-platform drug transaction that occurred years later and resulted in Mr. Grainger’s tragic death. *See Kase*, 392 S.C. at 63, 707 S.E.2d at 459; *ATC*, 367 S.C. at 207-208, 624 S.E.2d at 451. The absence of foreseeability defeats Plaintiff’s claim regardless of any expert opinions on but for causation. (ROA 007-008.)

Plaintiff’s reliance on *Parks v. Characters Night Club*, 345 S.C. 484, 548 S.E.2d 605 (Ct. App. 2001), is likewise misplaced. That case undermines Plaintiff’s position because it held—just as the circuit court did here—that the claimant’s injury was *not* “reasonably foreseeable” as a matter of law. *Id.* at 486, 548 S.E.2d at 606; *see id.* at

499-500, 548 S.E.2d at 613-614. And *Parks* did not even involve a negligent retention or supervision claim: the plaintiff instead alleged that a nightclub breached its duty to protect an invitee by failing to break up a fight. *Id.* at 487, 548 S.E.2d at 607. Plaintiff also invokes (Br. 11-12) *Parks*’s general rule statement—that proximate cause does not require foresight of a “particular event”—to argue that Uber “merely had to anticipate that allowing McNeal to continue to provide rides while using drugs would probably cause injury to someone.” But that contention rests on the same fundamental misstatements of fact and law discussed above. *See* pp. 12-15, *supra*. Rider reviews about smoke odor in McNeal’s car are not evidence of “provid[ing] rides while using drugs.” Nothing in *Parks* relieves Plaintiff’s burden to show a causal nexus between McNeal’s known prior conduct and Plaintiff’s harm. *See ATC*, 367 S.C. at 206, 624 S.E.2d at 450. Indeed, *Parks* militates in favor of affirming the decision below because here, as in *Parks*, there is “absolutely no evidence in the record indicating [Uber’s] alleged negligence ... proximately caused [Plaintiff]’s injury.” 345 S.C. at 500, 548 S.E.2d at 614.

As Plaintiff’s remaining citations make clear, foreseeability turns on the “natural and probable consequence” of the defendant’s actions. Pl.’s Opening Br. 9-10 (citations omitted). The natural and probable consequence of a driver using marijuana would be that he causes an accident while driving impaired—not that he engages in independent, off-platform sales of heroin, fentanyl, and painkillers to former passengers years later. *See* pp. 10-13 & n.2, *supra*; *see also Crolley v. Hutchins*, 300 S.C. 355, 357, 387 S.E.2d 716, 718 (Ct. App. 1989) (holding that illegally serving alcohol to an

intoxicated person did not proximately cause the customer's attempted suicide because "[o]ne does not expect a person to attempt suicide as a natural and probable result of being served a drink while intoxicated"). To establish negligence based on an employee's drug use, a plaintiff must "prove a nexus between [the employer's] alleged negligence ... and [the plaintiff's] injuries" by demonstrating that the employee "acted while under the influence of drugs." *Jordan v. Western Distrib. Co.*, 135 F. App'x 582, 590 (4th Cir. 2005). Plaintiff has not even attempted that showing.

Finally, Plaintiff alludes in passing to the TNC Act but offers nothing to undermine the circuit court's ruling. In the background section of her brief, Plaintiff implies (at 4) that Uber failed to vet independent drivers in accordance with the TNC Act and Uber's internal policy. But Plaintiff forfeited any claims based on Uber's pre-hire screening by failing to develop any substantive arguments about them. *See* pp. 7-9, 14, *supra*. In any event, the undisputed record shows that Uber complied with the TNC Act's screening requirements and company procedures. (ROA 007; ROA 059, 172-179.) And even assuming Plaintiff could prove a statutory or policy violation, the same causal-nexus requirements would defeat her claim: Plaintiff must establish that any noncompliance proximately caused her injuries. *See, e.g., Seals by Causey v. Winburn*, 314 S.C. 416, 418-419, 445 S.E.2d 94, 96 (Ct. App. 1994); *see id.* ("The injury must be the natural and probable consequence of the violation of the statute before the violation can be said to be the proximate cause of the injury."); *Peterson v. National R.R. Passenger Corp.*, 365 S.C. 391, 401, 618 S.E.2d 903, 908 (2005) (affirming grant of summary judgment because, "while evidence may exist that Respondents

did not comply with their own internal safety policies, there is no evidence that this noncompliance caused” the claimant’s harm). For the reasons discussed above, Plaintiff cannot carry that burden.

* * *

In short, Plaintiff asks this Court to hold that years-old reports of smoke odors in a driver’s car made it reasonably foreseeable that the driver would independently sell lethal narcotics to a former rider—more than two years later, while off the Uber platform, using personal phones, and at a private residence. No authority supports that extraordinary leap. And no evidence in the record closes the gap either. Rather than dramatically expand settled tort law, the circuit court correctly entered summary judgment.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment of the circuit court should be affirmed.